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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE PREPARATION
AND APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

Management Is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financlal statements that present fairly
the financial position of Rail Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) as at
December 31, 2018, and the consolidated results of its operations, cash flows and changes in equity for
the year then ended, in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS").

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for:

. Properly selecting and applying accounting policies;

. Presenting information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

. Providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs is
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and
conditions on the Group's consolidated financial position and financial performance;

. Making an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Management is also responsible for:

B Designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and sound system of internal controls,
throughout the Group;

. Maintaining adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the consolidated financial position
of the Group, and which enable them to ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the
Group comply with IFRS;

. Maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with local legislation and accounting
standards in the respective jurisdictions in which the Group operates;

° Taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group; and

. Preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2018 were
approved and authorised for Issue by Management on June 27, 2019.

On behalf cf the Management: = —
y - /7 \\O[O,';’

|
) ol

Stelios Loizou || ‘
Director
Rall Holding Limited

180



B AO «/lenoiir u Tyw CHM
yn. NlecHan, . S
o Mockea, 125047,
Poccus

Ten.: +7(495) 787 06 00

®akc: +7 (495) 787 06 01
deloitte.ru

AYOAUTOPCKOE 3AKJ/TKOYEHUE
HE3ABUCUMOIO AYZINTOPA

AxkuuvoHepy u CoBeTy AupeKTopoB Peiin Xonauur Jiumures
MHeHWe C OroBOPKONA

Mbl npoBeny ayauT npunaraeMoi KOHCONMAMpoBaHHOW (PUHAHCOBOW OTHYETHOCTU Peiln
Xonauur Niumutea («Mpynna»), COCTOAWENH U3 KOHCONMAUPOBAHHOMO oTYeTa 0 PUHAHCOBOM
nonoXeHuu no coctosHuio Ha 31 aekabpsa 2018 roga, KOHCONUAUPOBAHHOIO OTHeTa O
npubbinsax U ybbITKax U NpoYeM COBOKYNHOM A0XOAe, KOHCONUAUPOBAHHOrO oTyeTa 06
U3MEHEeHMAX B KanuTtane U KOHCONMAUPOBAHHOIO OTYETa O ABMXEHUU BeHEeXHbIX CPeACTB
3a 2018 roa, a Takxe npuMedaHuii K (PMHaHCOBOI OTYETHOCTH, BKAKOYAA KpaTKuii o63op
OCHOBHbIX NONOXEHWIA YYETHON NOSTUTUKH,

Mo HalweMy MHEeHUIO, 38 UCKIIYEHNEM BAIMAHUA BONpOCca, U3N0XEHHOrO B pasaene
«OCHOBaHNE ANA BbIPAXEHNA MHEHMA C OFOBOPKOH» Hallero ayAuTOPCKOro 3akno4eHus,
npunaraeman KOHCoONMAWpoBaHHan GUHaAHCOBaR OTYETHOCTb OTPaXXaeT AOCTOBEPHO BO BCEX
CYLECTBEHHbIX acnekTax KoHconnaupoeaHHoe buHaHcoBoe nonoxeHue Mpynnol

no cocTosHuio Ha 31 aekabpa 2018 roaa, a Takxe ee KOHCONUAUPOBaHHble PUHAHCOBDIE
pesynbTaThl U KOHCONUAWPOBaHHOE ABUXEHNE AeHeXHbIX cpeacTe 3a 2018 roa

B COOTBETCTBMM C MexXAyHapoAHbIMU CTaHAapTaMu PUHAHCOBOI OTYETHOCTU («MCOO»).

OcHoBaHWe ANS BbiPa)KeHUss MHEHWUS C OroBOPKOM

Kak ykasaHo B MpuMevaHuu 15 K KOHCONMAUpoBaHHON (PUHAHCOBOW OTYETHOCTH,

no cocTosHUIo Ha 31 aexabps 2018 roga oaHa M3 AoOYEPHUX KOMNaHui Mpynnbl HapywwMna
obszaTtenbHble pUHAHCOBbIE U HeUHAHCOBbBIE YCNOBUA (KOBEHaHTbI), MpeaycMOTpeHHble
3aK/IOYEHHBIM KPeAWTHBIM A0roBOPOM ¢ 6aHKOM. HeBbINONHEHME KOBEHAHTOB npeanonaraet
npuMeHexune WrpadHbiX CaHKUMIA K KOMNaHUU-3aeMLLMKY, B TOM YUCIe AaeT Npaeo
KpeauTopy TpeboBaTh AOCPOYHBIN BO3BPAT ASHEXHbLIX CPEACTB MO CYLIECTBYIOWUM
obszarenscreaM. Mo yKasaHHOMY AOroBOPY, AOKYMEHTbI, NOATBEPXAAIOLINE HAMEPEHUA
KpeauTopos He TpebosaTth AOCPOYHOro norawexus obssatenncTs, 6biNM NOAyYeHbl nocne
oTt4yeTHOM AaTbl (Mpumevarue 15). Mpu aToM PyKoBoACTBO MPynnbl OUEHUNIO BEpPOSITHOCTD
TpebosBaHuii AOCPOHHOrO NOraleHUs KpeauTa co CTOpOoHbl BaHka Kak HM3KYIO,

1, COOTBETCTBEHHO, MO COCTOAHUIO Ha 31 aekabps 2018 roga Takol KpeauT B cyMMe 86 367
Tbic. gonanapos CLUA 6bi/1 oTpaXeH B KOHCONUAUPOBAHHOW PUHAHCOBOW OTYETHOCTH

B COCTaBe A0/IrocpoYHbIX 06A3aTeNbCTB B COOTBETCTBUM CO CPOKAMU MOralleHus,
nMpeaycMOTpPeHHbIMU NepBOHaYasbHbIMU YCNOBUAMMU AoroBopa. Mo HaleMy MHEeHUIO,

B COOTBETCTBUM C TpeboBaHuaMum MCOO (IAS) 1 «[peacTaBneHne PUHAHCOBON OTHETHOCTU»
Ipynna gonxHa 6bina knaccuduuMpoBaTh AaHHOe 06A3aTeNbCTBO NO KpeauTaMm

KaK KpaTKocpouHoe, nockonbky Ha 31 gekabps 2018 roaa y Mpynnel He 6bino 6e3ycnoeHoro
npasa NepeHecT! ero norailueHue Ha CpokK, CoCTaBnsAoWni He MeHee 12 MecsLUeB nocne

YKa3aHHbIX AaT.

Mb! npoBenun ayauT B COOTBETCTBUU € MexayHapoAHbIMM cTaHdapTaMuy ayauTta («MCA»).
Hawwu 06733aHHOCTH B COOTBETCTBMM C STUMM CTaHAApPTaMuU yYKasaHbl B pazgene
«OTBETCTBEHHOCTb ayAuTOpa 3a ayAuT PUHAHCOBOM OTYETHOCTU» HALIEro 3aKNKHeHus.
Mbl He3aBMCUMbI MO OTHOLWEHUIO K [Pynne 8 COOTBETCTBUM € KOAEKCOM 3TUKM
npodeccuoHanbHbix byxrantepos CoeeTa No MeXAyHapoAHbIM CTaHAapTaM 3TUKU ANs
6yxrantepos («Kogekc») M 3TU4ecKUMU TpeboBaHUAMMU, NPUMEHUMBIMU K ayAUTY
pUHaHCOBOW OTYETHOCTU B Poccuiickoit ®eagepaumnun. Hammu Takxe BbinonHeHsl npoyue
aTH4eckue 06A3aHHOCTH, YCTaHOBNEHHbIe 3TUMUK TpeboBaHnaMK n KoaekcoM.

Mbl nonaraeM, 4T NOMYYUNMU AOCTATOYHbIE U HaAnexXaluue ayaAuTopcKue AoKasaTenbCcTea
ANS BbIpaXeHUs MHEHUS C OroBOPKOM,

Hasverosanne . JenCim OTnOCATCH K 040Ny THED ICOTHY KONAYECTEy :ODHAIMETAIL AL, BXI-04AA s 80 AMPCB2H-0IE N3, COBMECTHA BrOAS LYY 8 ALEACAT Tyt ToMALy [lvMUTES
HACTYO XOMNAHH0 € OTBETCTBEHHOCTEC yHACTAVKDE & “3pA-THDOBIHEs UMY TIPEASNAN, SADET/AKTRAP0SA~Hy P 8 LOCTESTCTBIV C 33KO=CA3TeNoCTE0V BeMaxosp manas (ganee — ATTA)
K&» 308 T4 08 0P ALH=ELKOE 14U0 SBASETCR CAMCCTORTEBHEM U “833840/ MoV OTHAV STy AN NTALOW. LT /1 (T81a'e UV E-yeMaF +Vax0; =8DOLHAA CoT +JRNCHTY ) HE TReLOCTARNSET YOIy

FAVEHTaM H37DEM#0. OAPOBHER UHGOPIE /3 C ODIIAHECKON CTRTyoe ATT/T U SE0ARUNX B HEE PUGANETNAY Nl “PAACTARENS A CAITE WwWw de'D/Te com/about.

& AT sfesoir 1 Tyw CHM». 6ce npasa sauuruens,
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Ba)Hble obcTroaTenbCcTBa

He u3aMeHAs MHEHUS O AOCTOBEPHOCTU KOHCONMAUPOBAHHOW PUHAHCOBOW OTHETHOCTHU, Mbl
npueneraeM BHUMaHue K MosacHeHUo 26, rae packpbito, Yto Gonee 50% akTUBOB U
obasatenbcTs 6binv NpeAcTaB/ieHbl pacyeTaMyU Co CBR3aHHbLIMK CTOPOHAMU MO COCTORHMIO
Ha 31 pekabps 2018 roaa (69% akTuece u 78% 06583aTENbCTB MO COCTOAHUIO Ha

31 pexkabps 2017 roga).

OTBETCTBEHHOCTb PYKOBOACTBA U /INL, OTBEHaloWKUX 3a KopnopaTuBHoe
ynpasneHue, 33 KOHCOJIMAUPOBAHHYH (PUHAHCOBYIO OTYETHOCTD

PyKoBOACTBO OTBEYaEeT 3a NOAroTOBKY M AOCTOBEPHOR NpeAcTaB/ieHle KOHCONMAUPOBAHHOM
¢p1HaHCOBOI OTYETHOCTM B COOTBETCTBUU € MCDO 1 3a CUCTEMY BHYTPEHHEro KOHTPONS,
KOTOPYIO PYKOBOACTBO cYMTaeT HeobXoAnMoi ANR NOArOTOBKU KOHCONUAUPOBAHHOM
¢p1HaHCOBOI OTYETHOCTU, He Ccoaepxallel CyLIeCTBeHHbIX UCKaXeHWI BcheacTaune
Heno6pocoBecTHbIX AeUCTBUIA Unu ownbok,

Mp# NOAroToBKE KOHCONMANPOBAHHOW (PUHAHCOBOM OTYETHOCTH PYKOBOACTBO OTBEYaeT
3a oueHKy cnocobHocTH MPynnbl HENPEepPbLIBHO NPOAC/IXKATE AEATENbHOCTL, 3@ packpbiTue
B COOTBETCTBYIOWMUX CNy4anX CBeAEHUN, OTHOCALIMXCA K HEMPEpPbIBHOCTA AGATENbHOCTH,
W 3a cOCTaBneHue OTYETHOCTH Ha OCHOBE AOMYLEHUA O HenpepbiBHOCTU AGATENbHOCTH,
3a UCK/IOYEHUEM CnydaeBs, Koraa PYKOBOACTBO HaMepeBaeTcs IMKBUAnMpoBaTh Mpynny,
npekpaTuTb ee AeRTeNbHOCTb UM KOTAa Y PYKOBOACTEA OTCYTCTBYET NpakTuyeckas
anbTepHaTUBa NUKBUAALUM UKW NPeKpaLleHUnio AeAaTeNbHOCTU Mpynnbl.

Nvua, oTeevaloume 3a KOpNopaTUBHOe YNpaBieHne, OTBEYaIoT 3a Ha430p 3a NOArOTOBKOW
KOHCONUANPOBaHHON (PUHAHCOBOW OTYeTHOCTH Mpynnbl.

OTBeTCTBEHHOCTb ayAUTOpa 3a ayAUT KOHCONUANPOBaHHOW (PUHAHCOBOM
OTYETHOCTH

Hawa uenb cocTouT B NoNyYeHUU pasyMHOW YBEPEHHOCTH, YTO KOHCONUAUPOBaHHaRA
GUHAHCOBAA OTYETHOCTb HE COAEPXMUT CYLLECTBEHHbIX UCKaXXEHUI BCneacTBUe
Hefo6pOoCcOoBECTHBIX ASUCTBUI MK OWKUBOK, U B BbINYCKE ayAUTOPCKOro 3aKNIOHEeHUR,
coAepxallero Hawe MHeHWe, PasyMHas yBepeHHOCTb - 3TO BbICOKAA CTENeHb YBEPeHHOCTH,
HO OHa He rapaHTUpYyeT, HTO ayAuT, NpPOBeAeHHbIN B cooTBeTCTBUM ¢ MCA, BCeraa BbiSBUT
CYWEeCcTBeHHbIe UCKaXeHUA NMPU UX HanU4umn, Nckaxerus MoryT GbiTe pesynbTaToM
Heno6pocoBeCTHbIX AUCTBUM UK OWKMBOK U CHUTAIOTCA CYLIECTBEHHbIMU, €CNU MOXHO
060CHOBAHHO NPeANONOXUTb, YTO B OTASNBHOCTM MU B COBOKYNHOCTU OHW MOTYT NMOBAUATE
Ha 3KOHOMUYECKWEe pelleHUnA Nonb3oBaTenet, NpuHMMaeMbie Ha OCHOBe
KOHCONWANPOBaAHHOK (PUHAHCOBOW OTYETHOCTH.

B pamkax ayauta, npoBoAUMOrc B cooTseTcTenu ¢ MCA, Mbl NpuMeHseM
npodgeccMoHanbHoe CyXXaAeHUe U COXpaHsieM NpoecCcMoHanbHbIi CKENTULU3M Ha
NPoTSAXeHUU Bcero ayauta. Kpome Toro, Mbl:

. BbIABNAEM U OLEHUBAEM PUCKU CYLIECTBEHHOIO UCKaXEeHUA KOHCONUANPOBAHHOM
(PUHaAHCOBOI OTHETHOCTH BCneacTBMe HeaobpoCoBeCTHbIX AeUCTBMI MK ownbok;
paspabaTbiBaeM ¥ NPOBOAUM ayAUTOPCKUE NPOLEAYPbl B OTBET Ha 3TU PUCKHM;
nony4yaeMm ayauTopcKue AoKasaTeNbCTBa, AOCTaTOMHbIE U Haanexaiwve ana
BbIpaX@EHUS Hallero MHeHUs, PUCK HeoOHapyXeHUA CYLEeCTBEHHOrO UCKaXKeHUs B
pesynbTare Hepo6poCcoBECTHbIX ASMCTEUA BhIE, YeM pUCK HeoBHapyXeHus
CYLLECTBEHHOro UCKaXeHun B pesynbraTe ownbKku, Tak Kak Heaob6pocoBecTHble
AEACTBUS MOTyT BKNIOYATL CroBOp, NOAMOT, YMbILWAEHHbIA NPONYCK, UCKaXeHHoe
npeactasneHue MHpopMaumm unu aeicTens B o6xoa AeMCTBYIOWEN CUCTEMD!
BHYTPEHHero KOHTpons.

o Mony4yaeM NoHUMaHWe BHYTPEHHUX KOHTPONeW, 3Ha4uMbIX ANA ayauTa, C LUenbio
pazpaboTku ayAUTOPCKMX NpoLeayp, COOTBETCTBYIOWMUX 0OCTOATENbCTBAM, HO HE C
uenbio BolpaxeHus MHeHus 06 apheKTUBHOCTU CUCTEMbl BHYTPEHHEro KOHTPONA
Fpynnbl.

° OueHuBaeM Haanexawuin xapakTep NpUMeHseMoi y4eTHOW NOMUTUKM K
060cHOBAHHOCTD ByXranTepcKux OLUEHOK U COOTBETCTBYIOWEro packpbiTus
uMHdOpMaLun, NOAroTOBNEHHOTO PYKOBOACTBOM.
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[Lenaem BbIBOA O NPAaBOMEPHOCTU NPUMEHEHUS PYKOBOACTBOM AOMNYLUEHUS O

HenpepLIBHOCTU AEATENBbHOCTU, @ Ha OCHOBAHWW NONYHYEHHbIX ayAUTOPCKUX
A0Ka3aTenbCTs - BbIBOA O HaNUYUK CYLeCTBEHHOW HeONpeaeneHHOCTU B CBA3H C
COBLITUAMMU MNU YCNOBUAMKN, B pe3ynbTaTe KOTOPbIX MOMYT BOZHUKHYTb 3HauUTeNbHbIE
COMHEHUA B CnocobHocTn Mpynnbl HENPepbIBHO NPOACMKaTb AATENbHOCTb, ECAKU Mbl
MPUXOAUM K BbIBOAY O HaNMUYMUMU CYLLECTBEHHOW HeonpeAeneHHOCTU, Mbl AONXHbI B
HaleM ayAUTOPCKOM 3akIloYeHWMU NpUBAEYb BHUMaHUE K COOTBETCTBYIOLEMY
pPacKpbITUIO HOPMaLUMN B KOHCONUAUPOBAHHOK (DUHAHCOBOIX OTHETHOCTU WU, B
cnyqae HeHaanexallero packpbiTvs, MOANPVLUMPOBaTb MHeHHe, Haluun BbiBOAbI
OCHOBbBIBAIOTCA Ha ayAWTOPCKMX AOKa3aTeNbCTBaX, NOMYHEHHbIX A0 AaTbl
ayAWTOpCKOro 3aknioyveHus. OaHako, Gyaywme cobbITUS UKW YCNOBUA MOTYT NPUBECTH
K yTpaTe Mpynnoii cnocobHOCTU HeNpepbIBHO NMPOAOAXKATb AEATE/IbHOCTb,

. MpoBOAMM OLEHKY NpeacTaBAeHUsi KOHCONMANPOBaHHON UHAHCOBOM OTUETHOCTU B
LenoM, ee CTPYKTYpbl U coep)xaHus, BKKUan packpbiTve uHdopMauuy, a Takxe
ofecneyeHns AOCTOBEPHOCTU NPEACTaBNEHUA NeXalux B ee OCHOBE onepaumii u

Ccob6biTUN.

Mbl MHOPMUPYEM MU, OTBEYAKOLWMNX 3a KOPNOpaTMBHOE YNpaBneHue, 0 3an1aHupoBaHHOM
ofbene U CpoKax ayAuTa, a TakkKe C CYLIeCTBEeHHbIX NpobneMax, BbIABNEHHbIX B XoAe

ayauTa, B TOM YnC/ie O 3HAYUTEeNbHbIX HeAoCTaTKax CUCTeMbl BHYTPEHHero KOHTpons.
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER, 31 2018
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

Notes
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment 5
Prepayments for property and equipment 6
Other intangible assets
Investment in the joint venture 7
Deferred tax assets 23
Loans receivable 11
Other non-current assets
Finance lease receivables
Long-term trade receivables from the sale of railcars 9
Restricted cash 12
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Prepayments and other current assets 10
Trade and other accounts receivable 9
Finance lease receivables
VAT receivable
Prepaid income tax
Loans receivable 11
Investments in debt securities of a related party 8
Short-term bank deposits 14
Restricted cash 12
Cash and cash equivalents 12
Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity and reserves
Share capital 13
Additional paid-in capital 13

Currency translation reserve
(Accumulated deficit)/ retained earnings
Total equity and reserves

Non-current liabilities
Long-term loans and borrowings 15
Long-term finance lease liabilities 15,16
Liabillty under a leaseback transaction 15,16
Long-term advances received from customers
Deferred tax liabilities 23
Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17

Short-term finance lease liabilities 15,16
Liability under a leaseback transaction 15,16
Short-term loans and borrowings 15
Advances received 18

Total current liabilities
Total liabilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

December 31,

December 31,

2018 2017
357 874 423723
< 23 548
71 4
6 380 6032
17 604 2 480
418 391 983 124
- 6 260
5 3363
2008 =
2102 -
804 430 1448 534
1170 1003
51531 13 314
86 951 42 283
= 364
27 144 10 235
6 572 1884
29 481 60 903
2 920 94 208
= 87 469
30472 13924
96 177 1964
332 418 327 551
1136 848 1776 085
1 1
3694 76 057
(94 308) (105 633)
(42 411) 46 680
(133 024) 17 105
662 449 1 594 694
263 078 2276
1510 =

563

5 308 5 258
932 908 1602 228
68 818 41 680
45 804 315
333 :
51 537 76 545
170 472 38 212
336 964 156 752
1269 872 1758 980
1 136 848 1776 085

The accompanying notes on pages 9 to 48 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

5
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED December 31, 2018

(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

Revenue

Direct expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Other operating income, net

Share of profit of the joint venture

Operating income

Finance income

Finance costs

Related party debt forgiveness
Foreign exchange (loss)/ gain, net
(Loss)/ profit before income tax
Income tax expense

(LOSS)/ PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Other comprehensive income:

Effect of translation to presentation currency which will not be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Notes

19
20
21

7

22
22

23

2018 2017
265 014 338 319
(168 637) (226 619)
(19 534) (7 270)
(337) 44
1528 367
78 034 104 841
75 571 98 830
(161 114) (178 327)
(3 265) (5 227)
(12 566) Q 074
(23 340) 29 191
(8 875) (22 687)
(32 215) 6 504
11 325 (886)
(20 890) 5618

The accompanying notes on pages 9 to 48 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

6
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

Balance as at January 1, 2017

Profit for the year
Effect of translation to presentation currency

Total comprehensive income for the year

Effect from discounting of loans to entities under common control
Effect from discounting of horrowings from entities under common control

Balance as at December 31, 2017
The impact of accounting policles changes with IFRS 9 adopting (net of tax effect)
Balance as at January 1, 2018 (after recalculation)

Profit for the year
Effect of translation to presentation currency

Total comprehensive income for the year

Effect from discounting of loans granted to entities under common control
Early repayment of borrowings from entities under common control

Balance as at December 31, 2018

Notes

11
15

[
[

Additional Currency
Share paid-in translation Retained

capital capital reserve earnings Total
89 267 (104 747) 40 176 24 697
= . 6 504 6 504
2 (886) = (886)
= (886) 6 504 5 618
(49 347) - - (49 347)
36 137 2 - 36 137
76 057 (105 633) 46 680 17 105
= - {56 #77% (56 877)
76 057 (105 633) (10 196) (39 771!
= - (32 215) (32 215)
5 11 325 - 11 325
= 11 325 (32 215) (20 890)
(58 309) - - (58 309}
{14 954) = = (14 054)
3 694 (94 308) (42 411) (133 02_41

The accompanying notes on pages 9 to 48 are an integral part of the consolidated financlal statements

7
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss)/ profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Income tax expense
Gain from sale of railcars as part of the railcar fleet replacement
programme (Notes 19, 20)
Depreciation and amortization
Foreign exchange loss/ (gain), net
Related party debt forgiveness
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Change in allowance for credit losses for doubtful receivables and
prepayments
Allowance for obsolete inventory
Share of profit of the joint venture
Deferred income
Finance costs
Finance income

Operating profit before changes in working capital

Movements in working capital:
Decrease / (increase) in trade and other receivables
(Increase)/ decrease in prepayments and other current assets
Decrease / (increase) in inventories
Increase in trade and other payables
Increase in advances received from customers
Increase in VAT receivable

Cash proceed from operating activities

Cash paid for purchase of railcars (Notes 5, 19)

Cash received from the sale of railcars under the rallcars fleet
replacement programme (Notes 5, 19)

Income tax paid

Finance costs palid

Return of advances paid for railcars

Net cash generated by/ (used in) operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Loans granted
Cash proceeds from redemption of loans granted
Proceeds from redemption of short-term deposits
Proceeds from sale of investments in debt securities of a related party
Interest received
Placement of short-term deposits
Purchase of investments in debt securities of a related party
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries
Purchase of intangible assets

Net cash generated by/ (used in) investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from loans and borrowings
Repayment of loans and borrowings
Cash deposited in accordance with covenants (Notes 12, 15)
Finance lease payments (including leaseback), net
Proceeds from leaseback transactions
Redemption of cash deposited in accordance with covenants

Net cash (used in)/ generated by financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes including effect of recalculation of
cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

2018 2017

(32 215) 6 504
8 875 22 687
(17 885) (53 686)
17 351 21 011
12 566 (9 074)
3265 5227
1271 744
(596) 679
(457) 493
(1528) (367)
- (39)

161 114 178 327
(75 571) (98 830)
76 190 73 676
26 582 (31 660)
(47 536) 3381
85 (925)

34 501 8 956
151 532 34 546
(32 825) (9 250)
208 529 78 724
(44 458) (215 249)
52 498 242 470
(20 194) (16 447)
(124 329) (185 848)
11 827 -
83 873 (96 350)
(90 272) (344 429)
30 858 117 328
79 735 114 049
79 892 2024
35 037 28 525

- (113 817)

- (89 773)

- 34 507

(77) -

135 173 (251 586)
114 682 760 057
(470 073) (412 029)
(35 487) (13 744)
(21 573) 2 457
273 437 -
12 868 -
(126 146) 336 741
92 900 (11 195)
1 964 13812
1313 (653)
96 177 1 964

The accompanying notes on pages 9 to 48 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(in thousands of US dollars, uniess otherwise indicated)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Rail Holding Limited (hereinafter — the "Company”) is a company limited by the law incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (hereafter referred to as "BVI”) on June 30, 2011.

The Company is registered at Craigmuir Chambers, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands.
The principal place of business Is the territory of the Russian Federation (hereinafter - "RF”).

The Company is a holding entity for the group of companies (the “Rail Holding Group” or the
“Group”) incorporated in BVI, Cyprus, and the RF. The Group’s primary business involves
purchasing railcars manufactured at Tikhvin Freight Car Manufacturing Plant (hereinafter - JSC
“TVSZ"), an entity under common control with the Group, and selling as well as leasing them to
its customers, which are mostly represented by transportation and manufacturing companies
operating within the RF. The Group also enters into financing and investing transactions with
entities under common control through its subsidiary Rail1520 Finance Cyprus Ltd, being
effectively a finance centre of a wider RPC UWC Group.

Since 22 December 2014 PJSC «Research and Production Corporation «United Wagon Company»
(hereinafter - PISC “"RPC UWC") has been the sole shareholder of the Company. As at December
31, 2018 PISC “"RPC UWC" held the controlling interest in the Company. PJSC "RPC UWC"
produces consolidated financial statements available for public use, which disclose the ultimate
controlling party of PJISC RPC UWC and the Company.

Information about the Company’s subsidiaries and their principal activities is set out below:

Place of December 31, December 31,
Subsidiaries Principal activities registration 2018 2017
Operating lease and Russian
LLC "Rail1520" resale of railcars Federation 100% 100%
Operating lease of Russian
LLC “Rail1520 Service” rallcars Federation 100% 100%
Holding of Cyprus
Rail 1520 (BVI) Ltd subsidiaries BVI 100% 100%
Holding of Cyprus
Rail 1520 Service (BVI) Ltd subsidiaries BVI 100% 100%
Holding of Russian
Rail 1520 Cyprus Ltd subsidiaries Cyprus 100% 100%
Holding of Russian
Rail 1520 Service Cyprus Ltd subsidiaries Cyprus 100% 100%
Rail 1520 Finance Cyprus Ltd Financing Cyprus 100% 100%
Holding of Russian
Rail 1520 Cyprus Leasing Ltd subsidiaries Cyprus 100% 100%
Finance |lease of Russian
LLC “Rail 1520 Leasing” railcars Federation 100% 100%
Rail 1520 Wagon Cyprus Ltd Investment company Cyprus 100% 100%
Finance lease of Russian
LLC "UwC TP" railcars Federation 100% 100%
Operating lease of Russian
LLC “Rail 1520 Invest” railcars Federation 100% -
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").

Basis of preparation

The entities of the Group maintain their accounting records in accordance with laws, accounting
and reporting regulations of the jurisdictions in which they are incorporated and registered.
The accounting principles and financial reporting procedures in these jurisdictions may differ
substantially from those generally accepted under IFRS. Accordingly, financial statements of
the entities of the Group were adjusted to ensure that they are presented in accordance with

IFRS.

These consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on the historical cost
basis except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained In the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in

an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realizable value in IAS 2 or value

In use in IAS 36.

In addition, for censolidated financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in
Its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Company can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 Inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

D Level 3 Inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Going concern

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Group
will continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future, which implies the realization of assets
and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.

Under the terms of the loan agreements, the Group is required to comply with a number of
covenants, including maintenance of certain financial ratios and other non-financial conditions.

As at December 31, 2018 a Group’s subsidiary breached a number of financial and non-financial
covenants stipulated in a loan agreement which could result in negative consequences for the
Group, including declaration of default (Note 15). As at December 31, 2018 a long-term portion of
loans under such agreements with JSC Gazprombank amounted USD 86 367 thousand.
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(in thousands of US dollars, uniess otherwise indicated)

All loans and borrowings are presented In these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with initlal payment terms stipulated in the loan agreements, notwithstanding whether

the covenants had been breached as at the reporting date, or not. As at December 31, 2018 the
Group'’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by USD 4 546 thousand and consolidated
loss amounted to USD 20 890 thousand.

After the reporting date but before the date of approval of these censolidated financial
statements, the Group recelved an official letter from JSC Gazprombank confirming that it wili not
demand an early repayment of the loans with the breached covenants.

Key operating subsidiaries of the Group have stable and operating cash inflows. However, the
Group also consolidates Rail1520 Finance Cyprus, being effectively a finance center of a widely
PJSC RPC UWC Group, which is amongst main loss-making subsidiaries of the Group. The
subsidiary is mainly financed by bonds issued by a related party - UWC Finance LLC and certain
other loans provided by other related parties. Therefore, ultimately, the ability to continue as
going concern depends upon continuing maintenance of adequate financing from related parties
and overall financlal position of PISC RPC UWC,

Having made its assessment management has concluded that the Group has access to adequate
resources to continue its operational existence for at least the next 12 months from the reporting
date and that it is appropriate to adopt a going concern basis in preparing these consolidated
financial statements.

Functional and presentation currency

Items included In the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The functional currency of the Group’s key subsidiaries is the national currency of the
Russian Federation, Russian Ruble ("RUB"). The functional currency of the Company is Russian

Ruble.

The presentational currency of the consolidated financial statements is the US Dollar. These
consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of US Dollars (hereinafter, *USD"),
unless stated otherwise. The results and financial position of the Group are translated into the
presentation currency using the following procedures:

° Assets and llabilities for each consolidated statement of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate as at the reporting date of that statement of financial position;

. Recurring income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, whereas significant non-recurring income and expense {tems are translated at the
exchange rates as at the date of transaction;

. Equity items are translated at historical exchange rates;

o All resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of equity and
reserves.

Exchange rates used in the translation were as follows:

Currency 2018 2017

At the end of the reporting period

RUB/ USD 69.47 57.60

RUB/ EUR 79.46 68.87

Average exchange rate for the reporting period

RUB/ USD 62.71 58.35

RUB/ EUR 73.95 65.90
11

190



RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

Foreign currency transactions

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the entity's functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of
exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are

not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary Iltems are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise.

Offsetting

Financial assets or liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consclidated statement
of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle

the liability simultaneously. Income and expense is not offset in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation, and

as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Group.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) prepared through December 31 of each year.
Control is achieved when the Company:

° Has power over the investee;
B Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns of the investee; and
. Has the ability to use its power to affect variable returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over
the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

. The size of the Company'’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of
holdings of other vote holders;

. Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

. Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not
have, the current abllity to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intragroup balances and any
unrealized gains and losses or income and expenses arising from Intragroup transactions, are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Non-controlling Interest in consolidated subsidiaries is identified separately from the Group's
equity therein. Total comprehensive income / (loss) is attributed to non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s Interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(in thousands of US doliars, uniess otherwise indicated)

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity
Is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognized in profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

The fair value Is the Initial carrying amount for the purpcses of subsequently accounting for

the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive income Iin respect of that entity are accounted for
as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated to the extent they do not
represent an impairment loss on the Group’s non-current assets. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure conslistency with the policies adopted

by the Group.
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by

the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognized in profit
or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized
at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

. Deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12 and IAS 19,
respectively;

. Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of
the acquiree or share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2
at the acquisition date; and

. Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale In accordance with IFRS 5 are
measured in accordance with that Standard.

Non-controlling Interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to

a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of

the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.

Contingent consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination is measured at fair
value at the date of acquisition and included in the total consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify

as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding
adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year
from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is
classified. The contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured

at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting
period in which the combination occurs, the Company reports provisional amounts for the items
for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during

the measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that,

if known, would have affected the amounts recognized at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amounts of the identifiable assets and
liabilities as at the acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the net amounts of the identifiable
assets and liabilities exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase

gain.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually,
or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to
the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An entity is considered an associate if the Group has significant Influence over its financial and
operating activities. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but Is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of

the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is

the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the
investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with

IFRS 5. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognized In the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognize the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate
or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds

the Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the assoclate or joint venture),

the Group discontinues recognizing its share of further losses, Additional losses are recognized
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from
the date on which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture., On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognized as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.
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Any impairment loss decreases the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss Is recognized In accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases
to be an associate or a joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When
the Group reduces an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is
a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in
an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests,

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group
continues to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognized in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognized in

the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Property and equipment

Items of property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Repair and maintenance costs are charged to expenses when Incurred. Costs for replacement of
major assemblies or components of property, plant and equipment are capitalised and the
replaced parts are retired.

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation.

Useful life, years

Railcars 22-40
Other fixed assets 1-30

Depreciation Is recognized so as to write off the cost of assets (other than properties under
construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment Is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment Is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or

loss.
Impairment of tangible assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-current assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset Is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate

the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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Recoverable amount Is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in-use. In assessing
value In-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and

the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that

the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior
years. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Classification and measurement of financial assets

All recognized financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value,
depending on classification. The classification depends on the business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. As at the
reporting date, the Group had only financial assets measured at amortized cost.

Amortized cost and effective interest rate method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on a debt instrument paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on Initial recognition.

Amortized cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financlal asset is measured at initial
recognition minus any principal repayments plus the cumulative amortization determined using
the effective interest method for the difference between the initial amount and the maturity
amount, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance. Gross carrying amount of a financial
asset Is the amortized cost of a financial asset, before adjusting for any expected credit loss
allowance.

Interest Income is calculated by using the effective Interest method and recognized in the
Financial income line item of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.
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Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes allowances for expected credit loss relating to investments in debt
instruments recognized at amortized cost, as well as trade and other accounts receivable. The
amount of expected credit loss ("ECL") recognized is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the credit risk which have occurred since initial recognition of the respective financial

asset.

The Group always recognizes lifetime ECL for its trade and other receivables. ECL for these
financial instruments is determined based on the Group's credit loss history adjusted for debtor-
specific factors, the overall economic situation and an assessment of both current and projected
circumstances at the reporting date (including the time value of money, where appropriate).

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognizes lifetime ECL when there has been

a significant increase in the credit risk since the initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument. On the other hand, when a credit risk has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group creates an allowance for such financial instruments in an amount equaling
to the following 12-month ECL. The determination of the need to recognize lifetime ECL is based
on the identification of a significant increase in the credit risk or probability of default since initial
recognition, rather than evidence of financial asset impairment as at the reporting date or an
actual default event. Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the financial instrument. 12-month ECL are the expected
credit losses that result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.

Estimation of ECL is based on the default probability and loss given default. Default probability
and loss glven default estimation is based on historical data adjusted for forecast data,

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. On derecognition of a financial asset carried
at amortized cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognized in profit or loss.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

All recognized financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
Interest method or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). As at the reporting date, the Group
had only financlal liabilities measured at amortized cost.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities that are not (1) contingent liabilities of acquirers in a business combination,
(2) held for trading, or (3) classified at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees on a financial liability paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
debt liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabllities when, and only when, the Bank’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired, The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit or

loss.

17

196



RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
{in thousands of US dollars, uniess otherwise indicated)

Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance
of the arrangement at the inception date, specifically, on whether the fulfillment of

the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement
conveys a right to use the asset.

Leases are classified as finance ieases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognized as receivables at the amount of
the Group'’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods
sc as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding In
respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of

the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized on a straight-line basis over

the lease term.

The Group as a lessee

Assets under finance leases are reccgnized as assets at the inception of the lease at the fair value
of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.

The corresponding liability to the lesscr is included In the statement of financial position

as a finance lease obligation.

Minimum |lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of

the outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so
as to produce a2 constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Contingent rentals are recognized as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Payments under operating leases are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as a liability and a reduction to
expense on a straight-line basis. Contingent rentals under operating leases are recognized

as an expense in the period In which they are incurred.

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into leaseback agreements. In case the
leaseback constitutes a finance lease, the transaction is treated as a way of financing provided to
the Group, with the underlying asset being a collateral security. In this case, the Group continues
to recognize the asset as if the sale and leaseback transaction had not occurred. The transaction
gives rise to a finance lease liability for the Group In the amount of proceedings from the transfer

of the asset to the lessor.
Share capital and additional paid-in capital

Contributions to charter capital are recognized at cost. Additional capital represents the amount
of additional contributions received from the shareholders and entities under common control with

the Company.

Costs directly attributable to the issue of new equity instruments are deducted from equity net of
any related income taxes.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognizes revenue from the following major streams:

o Sales of railway cars and components, including semi-finished goods produced internally
(castings, components, spare parts);
. Operating lease of railway cars,
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Revenue is recognized In the amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in accordance with the contractual terms, excluding any amounts received on behalf
of third parties.

The Group recognizes revenue when or as a contractual obligation Is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’
of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer, as follows:

. Revenue from the sale of railcars Is recognized when control, I.e. significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset, is transferred to the customer and the Group has nc
outstanding obligations to the customer that could affect the acceptance of the sold goods.
Most of railcar sale contracts with customers provide for the transfer of control to the
customer after completing technical inspection of the goods at the manufacturing plant and
signing an acceptance act confirming the specification and guality of the goods sold.

For the contracts that provide delivery of railcars to a certain dispatch location, control is
transferred to the customer upon delivery of railcars to the specified location and signing
an act of acceptance;

° Rental income is generated principally from leasing of railcars and is recognized on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease;

. Revenue from the sale of inventories is recognized upon transfer of control to a customer in
accordance with the respective contract with the customer, Some contracts provide for the
delivery of goods to the customer, others release the Group from the obligation to pay for
the delivery to the customer. The Group reviews the moment of transfer of control under
each significant inventory sales contract separately, as the sales contracts for components
and casting are concluded on an Individual basis.

Significant financing component

A number of railcar sale contracts envisage significant advance payments for the customers to be
performed within a period exceeding 12 months from the date of the respective advance
payment. In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the expected amount of
consideration for the effect of the time value of money as the advances recelved from customers
provides the Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods to the customer.

The Group does not adjust the expected amount of consideration for contracts providing for

a significant financing component If the period between the date of transfer of promised good or
service to a customer and the date of payment for that good or service will be one year or less.
Advances received under such contracts are treated as short-term where the respective supplies
are expected in the same month of the following year or earlier.

Warranty liabilities

In accordance with the Group’s standard contractual terms, the warranty period for railcars varies
on average from 2 to 8 years (up to the date of the first depot repair for railcars produced and
sold in same reporting period). The Group does not adjust revenue for warranty liabilities as the
historical information of warranty returns indicates near-zero returns from customers.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalized and amortized over the useful life of the asset.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

Other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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Government grants
The Group receives the following types of government grants:

° Compensation of interest expense on bank loans;

. Grants related to assets, that is -~ compensation of expenses for acquisition of long-term
assets (railcars) and compensation of expenses for purchase of materials fer production of
railcars.

o Grants related to compensation of transportation costs incurred on sales of produced
railcars.

Government grants are recognized at their fair value when there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply with the conditions attached.

Government grants related to compensation of interest expense under bank loans are credited to
profit or loss and other comprehensive income over the periods of the related interest expense
unless this interest was capitalized into the cost of property, plant and equipment, in which case
they are deducted from the cost of the respective items of property, plant and equipment and
credited to the profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
expected lives of these assets.

Government grants related to assets are deducted from the carrying value of the related asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position. Grants are recognized in profit or loss on

a straight-line basis over the period of use of a depreciated asset and reduce the amount of
depreciation expense, or are recognized immediately in profit or loss if the related asset is sold or

disposed of.

Government grants related to compensation of the Group’s transportation and other operating
costs reduce the amount of such expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.

Income tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognized In the consolidated statement of profit or loss except to the extent that it reates to
items recognized directly in equity, in which case it Is recognized in equity.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation authorities, using the tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date. Provisions in respect
of uncertain tax positions which relate to income tax are included in current income tax

at an amount expected to be payable inciuding penalties, if any.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not
provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liablilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries, assoclates and joint ventures to the extent that the parent is able to control

the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
be utilized in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on

the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities,
using tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liabilities are settled or

the assets realized.

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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Provisions

Provisions are recognized when, and only when, the Group has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable (i.e. more likely than not) that

an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract,
the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to
reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant,

the amount of a provision is the present value of the cash flows required to settle the obligation.

Contractuali commitments

Contractual commitments comprise legally binding trading or purchase agreements with stated
amount, price and date or dates in the future. The Group discloses significant contractual
commitments in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements unless they arise
as a result of a business combination. Contingencies attributed to specific events are disclosed
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying econcmic benefits is remote.
Contingent assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

3. NEW OR REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STATEMENTS

New and revised Standards and Interpretations adopted in the current period and
applicable to the Group’s consolidated financial statements

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current
period and have affected the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements.

. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments;
. IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (and the related Clarifications)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments as at January 1, 2018 resulted in certain changes in the
accounting policy. The Group applied IFRS 9 without making adjustments to comparative
information for prior periods of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2018, because during transition to the new standard, the Group applied a modified
retrospective approach which allows to take into account the changes related to adoption of the
new accounting policy with regard to retained earnings (accumulated deficit) as at the beginning

of the period.

IFRS 9 replaced the provisions of IAS 39 and introduced new requirements for classification,
recognition and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial
instruments and impairment of financial assets, Adoption of IFRS 9 as at January 1, 2018 resulted
in certain changes in the accounting policy and adjustments to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group’s financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, short-term bank deposits,
accounts receivable and loans receivable, Financial liabilities mainly comprise bank loans,
including bonds. As all of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortized
cost using effective interest method, their recognition in the consolidated statements under IFRS
9 did not differ significantly from the IAS 39 accounting model. Amendments to accounting
policies related to the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities are
disclosed in Note 2 Significant Accounting Policies.

21

200



RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

The table below presents the differences In classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 and

IAS 39,
Classification
IAS 39 IFRS 9

Loans receivahle Loans and receivabiss At amortized cost
Long-term trade receivables from the sale of railcars Loans and receivablies At amortized cost
Restricted cash At amortizad cost At amortized cost
Trade and other accounts receivable Loans and receivables At amortized cost
Short-term bank deposits Loans and receivables At amortized cost
Cash and cash equivalents At amortized cost At amortized cost

The Group applied a simplified approach to recognition of lifetime expected credit losses for its
trade and other receivables. The Group performed a historical analysis of bad debt allowance
accruals and write-offs to profit and loss with respect to its trade and other receivables. Based on
the results of the analysis the Group determined that the amount of allowance for doubtful
receivables accrued as at January 1, 2018 was adequate taking into account the impairment
provisions of IFRS 9.

As at January 1, 2018 the impairment amount for financial assets at amortized cost (loans
receivable) was recognized in accordance with the expected credit loss model under IFRS 9,
which result in earlier recognition of credit losses, and had the following effect on the financial

statements:
January 1,
2018 January 1,
{as previously IFRS 9 2018
reported) adoption (as restated)
Non-current assets
Loans receivable 983 124 (59 074) 924 050
Change in accounting policy due to IFRS 9
adoption (59 074)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

As at January 1, 2018, the Group has applied IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
IFRS 15 introduces a five-step approach to revenue recognition and certain disclosure
requirements applicable to specific cases. Adoption of IFRS 15 resulted in certain changes in the
accounting policy and certain adjustments to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group's accounting policy in respect of revenue recognition is disclosed in Note 2 Significant
Accounting Policies.

In accordance with IFRS 15 transition rules, the Group’s management assessed the impact of
IFRS 15 on the consolidated statements and concluded that the impact is limited to effect of

a significant financing component inherent in some railcar supply contracts that adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the time value of money. The Group did not apply

a retrospective approach on transition to IFRS 15 and did not recognize the effect of transition
as an adjustment of accumulated deficit as at January 1, 2018, as the Group had not had such

contracts with customers until 2018,

The application of IFRS 15 did not have a material impact on the Group’s financial position and
performance, except for adjustments of promised amount of consideration in relation to financing

component (Note 9).
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Standards and interpretations that have been issued, but not yet effective

At the date of authorization of these consclidated financial statements, the foilowing Standards
and Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective, and have not been early adepted in
preparation of these consolidated financial statements:

. IFRS 16 Leases!;

. IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?;

° IFRIC 23 Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments*;

. Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture3;

o Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation?;

. Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits !;

B Amendments to IAS 28 Long-Term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures*;

o Annual Improvements tc IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle?,

1 ffective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, earier application permitted.
2 effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021, earfier application permitted.
3 Effective date will be determined later, earlier application permitted.

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the application of standards and
amendments listed above will have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in the future, except for the effect of IFRS 16 Leases as described below.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the Identification of lease arrangements and
accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede the current lease
guidance including IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is
controlled by a customer. The standard introduces a single accounting model for lessees that
requiring recognition of the capitalized right to use the asset, as well as the corresponding
liabllity, on the balance sheet, Thus, distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting. This accounting method is applicable for all leases except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to
certain exception) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any
measurement of the lease liability. The lease liability Is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability Is adjusted for
Interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others.
Furthermore, the classification of cash flows will also be affected as operating lease payments
under IAS 17 are presented as operating cash flows, whereas under IFRS 16 model, the lease
payments will be split into a principal and an interest portion which will be presented as financing
and operating cash flows respectively,

Furthermore, extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial statements are required by
IFRS 16.

IFRS 16 Is effective for annual reporting periods beginning January 1, 2019, and interim periods
within those periods. Early application of IFRS 16 is permitted.

Based on a preliminary analysis of the Group’s leases as at January 1, 2019 and the facts and
circumstances known at that date, the Group’s management estimated lease liabilities as not

material.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are cescribed in Note 2, management
is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other relevant factors. Actual results may

differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period Iin which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods.

Critical accounting estimates

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Depreciation periods for property and equipment

The Group assesses the remaining useful lives of items of property and equipment at least
annually at the end of each reporting period or at the date of revaluation of property and
equipment carried at revalued cost. If expectations differ from previous estimates, the difference
Is recognized as a change in accounting estimates, in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. These estimates may have a material impact on the
amount of the carrying values of property and equipment and on depreciation expense for the
period.

Related party transactions

In the normal course of business the Group enters into transactions with its related parties.
Identification of related parties requires the application of management’s professional judgment.
Management believes that the related party disclosures in these consolidated financial statements
provide all information necessary to attract attention to the potential effect of the Group’s
transactions and outstanding balances with related parties on Group’s financial position and
financial performance (Note 26).

IFRS 9 requires Initial recognition of financial instruments at amortized cost. Judgment is applied
In determining If transactions are priced at market or non-market interest rates, where there is no
active market for such transactions. The basis for judgement Is market rates for similar types of
transactions with unrelated parties and analysis of effective interest rates. Terms and conditions
of balances with related parties are disclosed in Note 26.

Management also makes judgments regarding the recoverability of loans granted, probability of
their repayment and the amount of the impairment to be recognized in the consolidated financial

statements.

Allowance for impairment of financial assets

The Group regularly reviews its financial assets to assess for impairment. The Group’s most
significant exposure to credit risk relates to loans receivable and investments in debt securities of its
related party. As at December 31, 2018, the carrying value of loans receivable and investments in

debt securities of its related party were equal to USD 447 872 thousand (Note 11) and USD 2 920
thousand (Note 8), respectively.
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Provisions and contingencies

From time to time, the Group may become a party to legal proceedings. It may also receive
claims, including claims from regulators as regards the Group’s business, transactions and tax
positions that involve a high degree of uncertainty. The Group’s management makes assumptions
about the likelihood of adverse outcome and the possibility for making reliable estimates of
related costs or losses. Unexpected events or changes in such assumptions may require the
Group increase or decrease the existing allowance or create an allowance for events that have not
been previously considered probable. Provisions accrued at the reporting date and contingencies
are further disclosed in Note 28.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
Classification of the Group's operations under the railcar fleet replacement program

In the first half of 2017, the Group’s management decided tc infroduce a program tc replace

the old fleet of railcars with the new generation of railcars. Accordingly, the Group acquired new
raiicars during the year ended December 31, 2017 and leased out them under an operating lease
to replace a portion of the old railcar fleet that was sold during 2017, The program also assumes
that the Group will continue to sell old railcar fleet upon reaching a certain age and/or in case of
a favorable market price. The decisions to replace the disposed railcars with new ones will be
approved separately subject to the agreement with the lessees and the banks in case the railcars
are subject to pledge arrangements.

Thus, management believes the Group will regularly generate revenues from the sale of
previously leased old railcars In the normal course of business. In accordance with IAS 16 after
the approval of the decision to sell the railcars they were transferred to inventories at their
carrying value. Income from the sale of such railcars was included in the revenue line item of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended
December 31, 2017, in particular the sales of railcars item of the respective disclosure (Note 19).
Expenses related to the disposal of the old railcar fleet were included in the cost of sale item of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and disclosed in the

respective note (Note 20).

In preparing the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Group’s management considered
requirements of IAS 7, which specifies that cash payments made to acquisition assets held for
lease and subsequently held for sale are classified as cash flows from operating activities, and
cash proceeds from the lease and subsequent sale of such assets are also treated as cash flows
from operating activities. Accordingly, cash paid for the acquisition of railcars and received from
the sale of railcars under the railcar fleet replacement programme are Included in operating
activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.
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5.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the carrying amounts of property and equipment were as follows:

Railcars Railcars Other
(leased) (not leased) fixed assets Total

COST
As at January 1, 2017 492 391 3107 19 495 517
Railcars fleet replacement

(additions) 212 970 56 - 213 026
Additions 2616 - - 2 616
Railcars fleet replacement (sales) (253 773) - (253 773)
Disposals (937) (136) - (1073)
Translation to presentation currency, 26 410 163 1 26 574
As at December 31, 2017 479 677 3 190 20 482 887
Railcars fleet increase (additions) 42 266 16 600 - 58 866
Additions 2 037 2 - 2 039
Transfers 53 (53) - -
Railcars fleet replacement (sales) (46 890) (2 806) (49 696)
Disposals (1439) - - (1439)
Transiation to presentation currency (82 319) (660) (4) (82 983)
As at December 31, 2018 393 385 16 273 16 409 674
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

AND IMPAIRMENT
As at January 1, 2017 97 946 631 19 98 596
Depreciation charge 20 803 208 - 21 011
Railcars fleet replacement

(depreciation) (64 989) - = (64 989)
Disposals (296) (33) - (329)
Translation to presentation currency. 4 838 36 1 4 875
As at December 31, 2017 58 3()2= 842 20 59 164
Depreciation charge 17 272 79 - 17 351
Railcars fleet replacement

(depreciation) (13 074) (843) (13 917)
Disposals (168) - - (168)
Translation to presentation currency, (10 548) (78) (4) (10 630)
As at December 31, 2018 51 784 = 16 51 800
NET BOOK VALUE
January 1, 2017 394 445 2 476 = 396 921
December 31, 2017 421 375 2 348 S 423 723
December 31, 2018 341 601 16 273 - 357 874

As at December 31, 2018 railcar fleet with the net book value of USD 337 261 thousand was
transferred under financial lease agreement (Note 16). As at December 31, 2017 property and
equipment with the net book value of USD 413 116 thousand was pledged as collateral for the

Group'’s borrowings (Note 15).

As at December 31, 2018 the Railcars group of property and equipment includes railcars with a
carrying value totaling USD 16 273 thousand that were manufactured and transferred to property,
plant and equipment in 2018, and not leased out as at December 31, 2018. Management believes
that these railcars will be leased within 12 months from the reporting date.
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6. PREPAYMENTS FOR PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Prepayments for property and equipment comprised the following:

Advance for railcars paid to related parties
Prepayments made - third parties
Allowance for expected credit losses

Total prepayments for property and equipment

December 31, December 31,
2018 2017
23 548
= 515
- (515)
= 23 548

The advance paid to one of the Group's related parties (TVSZ JSC) In 2017 was returned in the
amount of USD 11 827 thousand to the Group due to cancellation of rail cars supply.

Movement in the allowance for expected credit losses during the years ended December 31, 2018

and 2017 was as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year

Reversal of the allowance for expected credit losses
Translation to presentation currency

Balance at the end of the year

7. INVESTMENT IN THE JOINT VENTURE

The Group has the following investments in joint ventures:

December 31, December 31,
2018 2017

515 489

(473) -

(42) 26

= 515

Ownership and voting interest

Place of of the Group
Type of incorporation December 31, December 31,
Name investment and operation 2018 2017
MRC 1520 LLC Joint Venture Moscow, Russia 50% 50%

In 2012 the Group entered into a joint venture agreement to establish MRC 1520 LLC with Mitsui
Corporation and acquired a 50% share In IMRCR Limited, the owner of MRC 1520 LLC. The joint
venture commenced Its operations in 2013. The joint venture’s primary business is operating lease
and sale of railcars to transportation and manufacturing companies within Russia.

The Group's share in profit of the joint venture for 2018 and 2017 recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income amounted to USD 1 528 thousand and
USD 367 thousand, respectively. Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
material joint venture and reconciliation of the summarized financial information to the carrying
amount of the interest in the joint venture recognized in the consolidated financial statements is
set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts shown in the joint
venture’s financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS adjusted by the Group for equity

accounting purposes.
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December 31,

December 31,

2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents 2614 2 279
Trade and other receivables 41 80
Other current assets - 1
Non-current assets 10 686 9 882
Deferred tax assets - 52
Other current liabilities (384) (230)
Non-current liabilities (197) -
Net assets of the joint venture 12 760 12 064
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in the joint venture 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the joint venture 6 380 6 032

2018 2017
Revenue 2121 2 237
Profit for the year 3056 734
Other comprehensive income for the year (2 359) 580
Total comprehensive income for the year 697 1314
The above income for the year includes the following:

2018 2017
Gross profit from the sale of rail car 1917 -
Depreciation and amortization (313) (725)
Interest income 108 -
Income tax expense (778) (188)
Forex exchange gain/ (loss) 386 (53)

INVESTMENTS IN DEBT SECURITIES OF A RELATED PARTY

In 2018 the Group purchased 6 411 bonds for USD 115 thousand at the transaction date and sold
5 000 015 bonds to the market. The bonds which were sold had a carrying value of USD 86 695
thousand at the date of sale. The residual 205 793 bonds were recognized as investments in debt
securities of a related party as at December 31, 2018 equal to USD 2 920 thousand. These
securities are classified as financial assets at FVTPL with the fair value measurement identified as

Level 1. The Group holds no collateral over these balances.

In 2017 the Group purchased 5 170 108 bonds for USD 89 686 thousand at the transaction date
and sold 100 087 bonds in the market. The bonds which were sold had a carrying value of

USD 1 681 thousand at the date of sale. The residual 5 199 397 bonds were recognized as
Investments in debt securities of a related party as at December 31, 2017 equal to USD 94 208
thousand. These securities are classified as financial assets at FVTPL with the fair value
measurement identified as Level 1. The Group holds no collateral over these balances.

TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Trade and other receivables comprised the following:

December 31,

December 31,

2018 2017

Trade receivable from leaseback transactions (Note 16) 71 925 -
Trade receivables from sale of rallcars 10 752 4 665
Trade receivable from the sale of castings, components and other

inventories 2 975 611
Trade receivahles from operating lease of railcars 1293 37 632
Other accounts receivable 39 63
Allowance for expected credit losses (33) (689)
Total trade and other accounts receivable 86 951 42 283
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As at December 31, 2017 receivables from operating lease of railcars included receivables due

from Vostok 1520 LLC in the amount of USD 36 313 thousand.

As at December 31, 2018 trade receivables from sale of rallcars included a current portion of
accounts receivable from sales of railcars in the amount of USD 262 thousand. These agreements
provide for a deferred repayment schedule with credit period from 18 up to 48 months from

the date of shipment. Accounts receivable under these agreements were accounted for at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate, which reflects the time value of money and
ranges 10.74%. Non-current portion of receivables under these agreements was included in

the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position in long-term trade receivables from

the sale of railcars in the amount of USD 2 008 thousand as at December 31, 2018.

Management determines the allowance for expected credit losses based on assessment of
customers’ credit quality, changes in industry trends, subsequent receipts and historical

experience. Ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

2018 2017
Past due 31-90 days 114 169
Past due 91-180 days 1 331 16 367
Past due 181-365 days 1283 4427
Past due over 365 days 757 456
Total 3 485 21 419
= ——

December 31,

December 31,

Movement in the allowance for expected credit losses during the years ended December 31, 2018

and 2017 was as follows:

December 31,

December 31,

2018 2017
Balance at the beginning of the year 689 1274
Reversal of the allowance for expected credit losses (597) (1324)
Charge of the allowance for expected credit losses - 679
Translation to presentation currency (125) 60
Balance at the end of the year 33 689

10. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments and other current assets comprised the following:

December 31,

December 31,

2018 2017
Advances paid to a related party (Note 26) 44 429 2 086
Advances paid as future lease payments under leaseback transaction 6 592 =
Prepayments to suppliers 510 269
Bank guarantees and sureties = 10 844
Prepaid expenses - 115
Total prepayments and other current assets 51f531 13 314

In 2018, one of the Group’s subsidiaries entered into a trilateral agreement for supply of railcars
with subsequent leaseback. This agreement stipulates that, in the period from 2019 to 2020, the
Group’s entity under common control shall deliver 10 000 railcars to GTLK PISC with a total value
of USD 460 627 thousand (net of VAT) within 21 tranches, which in turn shall transfer them to
one of the Group’s entities under long-term leaseback. The lease term will be 15 years from the
date of supply of each tranche, future lease payments will amount to USD 1 023 539 thousand
(net of VAT). The effective interest rate is calculated excluding the effect of cash flows from VAT
and varies from 12.4% to 12.8% per annum.

As at December 31, 2018 the amount of advances paid as a part of future lease payments
comprised USD 6 592 thousand.
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11.

LOANS RECEIVABLE

Loans receivable comprised the following:

Interest rate
(contractual),

December 31,

December 31,

Loans receivable at amortized
cost

Loans to related parties

Unsecured

TH UWC LLC

Holme Services LTD

Rail1520 Tank Cars Cyprus Holding

Rail 1520 IP LTD

Holme Services LTD

TM-Energo

SZIPK LLC

SZIPK LLC

CTT LLC

Pegadisa Management LTD

Holme Services LTD

Deanroad LTD

Unicon 1520 LLC

Starfire Engineering Inc

Rall1520 Cyprus Man Co LTD

UW Forge Co Ltd

Uniwagon North America

Rail1520 Tank Cars BvI Holding
LTD

Holme Services LTD

Ovilleno Holdings LTD

Restadiana Ventures LTD

IST-Capital

Re Test Cyprus LTD

Re Test LTD

Tikhvin Trial Centre for Railway LLC

Secured

SZIZHK LLC

Business Engineering 1SC

Gross loans granted to related
parties

Allowance for expected credit losses

Loans granted to third parties
Unsecured

IST-Capital

Re Test Cyprus LTD

Re Test LTD

BLK-Proekt LLC

Tur LLC

Secured
SZIZHK LLC
Business Engineering JSC

Gross loans granted to third
parties

Allowance for expected credit losses
Total loans receivable

Current part
Non-current part

Total loans receivable

Currency % 2018 2017
RUB 0% 98 972 151 863
RUB 6% 95 614 117 321
RUB 10% 72 914 59 957
RUB 10% 45 000 39 039
RUB 0% 42 649 -
RUB 11.5% 31 632 36 083
RUB 2.5% 14 285 23 874
RUB 0% 12 026 -
RUB 0% 8 978 -
RUB 10% 8 438 8 212
uUsD 6.4% 6 039 198 157
usD 6.4% 3313 2 465
RUB 7% 2 460 2 000
UsD 4% 1271 -
usD 6.4% 579 317
usbD 6.4% 404 373
usbD 6.0% 206 1 865
usD 6.4% 38 30
uUsD 5% 7 -
RUB 10% - 289 426
RUB 10% - 24 921
RUB 11.5% - 22 842
usD 6.4% - 8 184
UsD 6.4% - 65
RUB 7.5% 33
RUB 11% - 43 897
RUB 11% - 12 483
444 825 1 043 408
(31 481) -
RUB 11.5% 20 045 -
usD 6.4% 9 351 -
usD 6.4% 71 -
RUB 10% - 555
RUB 11% = 65
RUB 11% 28 132 -
RUB 11% 4 684 -
62 283 620
(27 755) =
447 872 1 044 027
29 481 60 903
418 391 983 124
447 872 1 044 027
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12.

In 2018, the Group changed the terms of the loan agreements with TH UWC LLC and SZIPK LLC.
Under the new conditions, the interest rates were reduced to 0% and 2.5% per annum,
respectively. The new rate was lower than the market rates, which was estimated by the Group's
management at 8,57%-8.96% at the date of the amendments. In 2018, the Group also issued a
number of loans to related parties at the Interest rate of 0% per annum. Accordingly, these loans
were recognized at fair value using the discount rate of 8.57%-8.96% depending on their
maturity. The difference between the fair value and nominal value of the loans (USD 71 370
thousand) was recognized as reduction of additional paid-in capital.

As at December 31, 2018 the Group had agreed to discharge payment obligations under the loan
Issued to Uniwagon North America. The Group forgiven the remaining amount of the borrower’s
debt in the amount of USD 3 265 thousand which is comprised of the principal debt in the amount
of USD 3 048 thousand, and the interest accrued up to December 31, 2018 in the amount of USD
217 thousand with the result of forgiveness recognized in the consolidated statement of profit and
loss and other comprehensive income.

In 2017 IST Finance Ltd issued guarantees in respect of loans issued to SZIZHK CJSC and
Business Engineering JSC. According to the guarantees ICT Finance Ltd is liable to make
payments under the loan agreements in case the borrowers fail to fulfill their obligations to pay
the debt. Due to the fact that IST Group disposed its interest in the Group's share capital as at
December 31, 2018 the quality of collateral securing several loans significantly deteriorated and
the Group recognized lifetime ECL on such assets.

The table below shows movements in ECL on the following financial assets:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Total
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL ECL
Allowance for expected credit losses as at
January 1, 2018 under IFRS 9 59 074 - 59 074
Reversal of allowance due to disposal of assets (20 347) - (20 347)
Increase in allowance due significant increase in
credit risk 1918 26 695 28 613
Reclassification (784) 784 -
Translation to presentation currency (8 104) - (8 104)
Allowance for expected credit losses at
December 31, 2018 31 757 27 479 59 236

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprised the following:

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017
Short-term bank deposits in RUB 90 788 594
Current accounts in RUB 5336 1365
Current accounts in EUR 38 3
Current accounts in USD 15 2
Total cash and cash equivalents 96 177 1964

As at December 31, 2018 the Group placed cash on overnight deposits in order to receive interest
income, the interest rate on such deposits varied from 3% to 6.9% per annum.

As at December 31, 2017 the Group placed cash on overnight deposits in order to receive interest
income, the interest rate on such deposits varied from 5% to 8% per annum.
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13.

14.

Restricted cash as at December 31, 2018

During 2018, a number of bank guarantees were issued to one of the Group's subsidiaries

as a principal in respect of railcar buyers to secure the Groups’ participation in tenders, receipt of
advance payments for subsequent deliveries and fulfillment of the Group’s cbligations under
contracts. As at December 31, 2018 and 2017 the total amount of funds deposited in collateral
accounts that serve as collateral for such guarantees was USD 32 574 thousand and USD 13 934
thousand, respectively. As at December 31, 2018 the long-term portion of such cash totaled USD
2 102 thousand and was included in the consolidated statement of financial position as non-

current assets.
Restricted cash as at December 31, 2017

Under the credit facility agreement concluded between the Group's subsidiary and Alfa-Bank JSC
a pledge agreement was signed in respect of the bank collaterai account. In accordance with

the terms of the agreement, the collateral account shall accumulate proceeds from the railcar
lease services under a number of the Group’s lease contracts. The use of funds deposited in

the collateral account is only possible for repayment of the short-term portion of the loan from
Alfa-Bank JSC,

As at December 31, 2017, the amount of restricted cash accumulated on the collateral bank
account of USD 13 924 thousand was included in current assets in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

Other limitations

Under the loan and security documentation concluded between the Group’s subsidiary and
Gazprombank JSC and Gazprom Leasing LLC, a pledge agreement was signed in respect of

the bank collateral account. In accordance with the terms of the agreement, the collateral
account shall accumulate proceeds from the railcar lease services under a number of

the subsidiary’s lease contracts. As at December 31, 2018 the funds accumulated on the
collateral account totaled USD 3 455 thousand. The Group did not classify these assets as
restricted cash, since as at December 31, 2018 the creditor had no right to restrict the use of
funds in the collateral account: the restriction arises only when the Group breaches certain
financial covenants established by the loan and lease agreements that had not been breached at

the reporting date.

SHARE CAPITAL AND ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017 the Company’s issued and registered share capital amounted
to USD 1 thousand. The share capital was fully paid as at the reporting date.

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the additional paid-in capital of the Group consisted of the
contributions made by the sole shareholder of the Group.
SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS

Short-term bank deposits, including accrued, but not paid interest, comprised:

December 31, December 31,

currency Rate, % 2018 2017
Promsvyazbank (Cyprus) RUB 9% - 87 469
Total short-term bank deposits - 87 469

As at December 31, 2017 the Group placed free cash in the amount of RUB 5 000 000 thousand

(USD 86 805 thousand as at the reporting date) to bank deposit with a purpose of receiving
interest income from Promsvyazbank (Cyprus), at an annual interest rate 9.00 % and maturity on
14 June 2018. As at December 31, 2017 interest accrued, but not paid comprised USD 664

thousand.
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15. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Loans and borrowings received comprised:

Interest rate,

% (at
December 31,
Interest 2018) December 31, December 31,
Maturity rate contractual 2018 2017

At amortized cost,
including:
RUB-denominated
UWC Finance LLC 2021-2024 Fixed 6.6%-12.02% 440 229 622 684
RPC UWC PISC 2021-2027 Fixed 7.32%-13.9% 187 390 254 026
Gazprombank JSC 2028 Fixed 10.5% 86 367 -
Alfa-Bank JSC 2018 Fixed 12.7% - 320 744
TH UWC LLC 2018 Fixed 5.9% - 39 001
USD-denominated
TH UWC LLC 2018 Fixed 6% - 425 784
Total loans and

borrowings 713 986 1671 239
Less: current portion (51 537) (76 545)
Long-term loans and

borrowings 662 449 1 594 694

In 2018 the Group repaid a part of loan received from TH UWC LLC, which had been recognized in
2017 at fair value. The difference between the fair and nominal value was reversed from
additional paid-in capital.

Security on loans and borrowings

As at December 31, 2018 railcar fleet with the net book value of USD 337 261 thousand was
pledged under finance lease agreement (Note 5).

Under the above borrowing agreements, the Group has provided the following pledges as at
December 31, 2017:

. Property and equipment with carrying value of USD 413 116 (Note 5);
. Shares In subsidiaries (Rail 1520 LLC (100%), Rail 1520 Cyprus Ltd (100%)).

Repayment schedule

The repayment schedule of loans and borrowings for five years ending December 31, 2023 and

thereafter is as follows:
Amount to

maturity (w/o

effect of
discounting)
2019 51 537
2020 43 184
2021 248 290
2022 -
2023 -
Thereafter 384 400
Total 727 411
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Reconciliation of financial liabilities

The change of financial liabilities including cash and non-cash movements is presented below.
Liabilities arising from financial activities are those for which cash flows were or future cash flows
will be classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities,
Non-cash changes
Cash flows
from Foreign Other non- Net
January 1, financial exchange Effect from Translation cash interest December

2018 activities difference discounting difference changes payments 31, 2018

Borrowings from

related parties 1341 495 (148 771) 44 886 15 609 (190 610) (443 569) 8578 627 619
Bank loans 329 744 (206 620) - - (35 263) (861) (633) 86 367
Finance lease 2591 251 866 - - (8 980) 63 405 - 308 882
Liability under a

leaseback - 1926 - - (2) - (81) 1843

1673 830 (101 599) 44 886 15 609 ‘199 592! ‘381 025! 7864 1024711

Non-cash changes

Cash flows
from Foreign Other non- Net
January 1, financial exchange Effect from Translation cash interest December

2017 activities  _difference discounting difference _ changes _payments _31, 2017

Borrowings from

related parties 816 553 481 380 (16 469) 36 137 45 450 34 154 16 564 1 341 495
Bank loans 443 039 (133 380) - - 22 609 769 (3 293) 329 744
Finance lease - 2457 - - 34 100 - 2591
Other borrowings - 28 (27) - - - (1) =

1259 592 350 485 16 496 36 137 68 093 35 023 13 270 1673830
Covenants

Under the terms of the loan agreements, the Group is required to comply with a number of
covenants and restrictions, including maintenance of certain financial ratios and other non-
financial conditions. Non-compliance with these covenants may result in negative consequences
for the Group, including declaration of default.

Compliance with covenants during the year ended December 31, 2018

In 2018 one of the Group’s subsidiaries signed a finance lease agreement with Gazprom Leasing
JSC and a respective loan agreement with Gazprombank JSC for RUB 6 000 million. In accordance
with both of the agreements, the Group was required to comply with a number of default non-
financial covenants, which were breached as at December 31, 2018. Namely, the Group was
obliged to sign pledge agreements In respect of property rights, movable property, interests in
share capital and not to adjust the terms of deliveries of railcars that are the subject of financial
lease. The breaches were technically remedied in February 2018. As at the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements, the Group received an official letter from bank confirming
that it will not demand an early repayment of the loan or termination of the respective finance
lease. As at December 31, 2018, the long-term portion of the loan was RUB 6 000 million (equal
to USD 86 367 thousand as at reporting date).

The management of the Group estimated the probability that banks will demand early repayment
of loans under agreements with breached covenants is low and, therefore, as at December 31,

2018 such loans were presented in the consolidated financial statements for 2018 as non-current
liabilities according to the initial payment terms stipulated in the loan agreements.
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16.

Compiiance with covenants during the year ended December 31, 2017

As at December 31, 2017 none of the Group’s subsidiaries breached the covenants. The Group
was in compliance with all financial and non-financial covenants as at the year end date.

Available credit facilities

As at December 31, 2018 the Group had no unused credit facilities.

FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES

In 2018, the Group entered into a supply agreement for 11 191 own railcars, which provides for
the leaseback of the sold railcars. The lease term under the agreement is 10 years, the effective
interest rate calculated excluding the influence of cash flows from VAT is 11%.

Because of the Group did not fully fulfill the obligation for railcars supply, a part of the receivables
related to the transaction was not repaid by the leasing company as at December 31, 2018.
Outstanding receivables at December 31, 2018 were USD 62 485 thousand (net of VAT 18%) and
were taken into account when determining the present value of the minimum lease payments.
These receivables were included in trade and other accounts receivable (Note 9) in the amount of
USD 71 925 thousand (incl. VAT 18% in amount of USD 11 247 thousand).

The total interest on the lease liabilities for 2018 amounted to USD 10 722 thousand and was
recognized as finance expenses in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other
comprehensive income (Note 22).

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017 finance lease liabilities comprised:

December 31, December 31,
2018 2017

Minimum lease payments, including
Current portion (later than 1 year) 49 754 366
From 1 to 5 years 197 900 1852
More than 5 years 256 030 1 963
Total minimum lease payments 503 684 4 181
Less interest on the lease liabilities (192 995) (1 589)
Less outstanding amount under leaseback transaction as at the

reporting date (62 485)
Present value of minimum lease payments
Current portion (later than 1 year) 45 804 47
From 1 to 5 years 145 190 718
More than 5 years 117 888 1826
Less outstanding amount under leaseback transaction as at the

reporting date (60 678) -
Total present value of minimum lease payments 248 204 2 591
Less current portion of lease liabilities (45 804) (315)
Outstanding receivables on transaction as at the reporting date 60 678 -
Non-current portion of lease liabilities 263 078 2276

The lease agreement provides for a fixed payment with no contingent lease elements.

Upon expiry of the agreement, the Group can buy out |eased property at a price close to zero.
The Group's lease agreements contain railway business-specific covenants, such as the Group's
responsibility for regular maintenance, repair and insurance of the leased assets, The lease

agreement also provides for financial and non-financial covenants. Information on the fulfillment
of such covenants in 2018 and as at December 31, 2018 is disclosed in Note 15,
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17.

18.

19.

The Group's liabilities under this agreement are secured by the lessor’s title to leased assets. The
net book value of the rail car fleet pledged under a finance lease agreement is USD 337 261
thousand (Note 5, 15).

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables comprised the following:

December 31, December 31,
2018 2017
Accounts payable for railcars 48 536 26 094
Taxes payable 20 282 15 586
Total trade and other payables 68 818 41 680
ADVANCES RECEIVED
Advances received comprised the following:
December 31, December 31,
2018 2017
Advances received from customers for railcars 167 798 33 889
Operating lease prepayments 1238 2 208
Other advances received 1 438 2116
Total advances received 170 472_ 38 Zlé

In 2018, the Group entered into railcar supply agreement with supplies due in 2020-2021, As at
December 31, 2018 advances for supplies due after December 31, 2019 of USD 563 thousand
was recognized separately from advances received for sale of railcars and included in the
consolldated statement of financial position as advanced received in non-current liabilities.

REVENUE

Revenue of the Group comprised the following (excluding finance income - Note 22):

2018 2017
Sales of goods (railcars) 160 743 250 945
Operating lease of railcars 102 037 86 358
Sales of castings, components and other inventories (incl. spare parts) 1110 289
Other revenue 1124 727
Total revenue 265 014 338 319

In 2017, the Group’s management decided to replace the old fleet of railcars previously leased by
the Group with the new innovative railcars. Accordingly 7 379 railcars with a carrying value of
USD 188 784 thousand (Notes 5, 20) were transferred from property and equipment to
inventories and sold to third parties. The largest customer was Federal Freight Company JSC.

The total amount of revenue received by the Group from the sale of these cars was included in

the sales of railcars item and amounted to USD 242 470 thousand for the year ended December 31,
2017,

In 2018, the Group's management decided to sell the Group's own fleet of railcars with a carrying

values of USD 35 779 thousand to third parties. The revenue from the sale amounted to USD
53 664 thousand.
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20.

21.

22.

DIRECT EXPENSES

Direct expenses of the Group comprised the following:

Direct expenses associated with operating lease
Depreciation of railcars

Maintenance and repairs

Property tax

Insurance expenses

Other

Direct expenses associated with sale of railcars and spare parts
Net book value of railcars sold from own railcar fleet

Cost of railcars sold

Cost of castings, components and other inventories (incl. spare parts)

Total direct expenses

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Selling, general and administrative expenses of the Group comprised the following:

Management fees

Railcar-sales related costs

Railcars disposition information

Transportation costs for the delivery of railcars to the buyer
Consulting and legal fees

Change in allowance for expected credit losses in accounts receivable
Write-down of inventories to net realizable price

Other

Total selling, general and administrative expenses

FINANCE COSTS AND FINANCE INCOME

Finance costs of the Group comprised the following:

Interest expense on loans and borrowings

Cost of guarantees and sureties

Interest expense on finance lease transactions (Note 16)

Increase in allowance for expected credit losses on loans receivable
(Note 11)

Bank charges and commissions

Significant financing component of contracts with customers

Unwinding of discount on financial liabilities

Other items

Total finance costs
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2018 2017

17 351 21 011

5517 6 831

2 359 2 118

123 140

356 404

35 779 188 784

106 171 7 059

981 272

168 637 226 619
2018 2017

14 871 2 569

2784 1682

1032 820

581 272

441 460

(596) 679

(459) 493

880 295

19 534 7 270
2018 2017

116 913 165 304

15 834 11 503

10 722 -

8 265 -

4919 642

2 847 -

1555 878

59 -

161 114 178 327
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23.

Finance Iincome of the Group comprised the following:

2018 2017
Interest income from loans receivable 58 482 83 408
Unwinding of discount on financial assets 7776 86
Interest income on deposits, cash and equivalents 7 755 10 724
Finance income from sale of debt securities 1375 3991
Interest income from finance leases 183 621
Total finance income 75 571 98 830
INCOME TAXES
The components of income tax expense comprised the following:

2018 2017
Current tax expense (12 906) (19 952)
Adjustment of income tax for prior years 3048 -
Deferred tax benefit / (expense) 983 (2 735)
Total income tax expense (8 875) (22 687)

As at December 31, 2018 the income tax rates applicable to the entities of the Group were as
follows:

. Russian companies - 20%;
. Cyprus companies - 12.5%;
° BVI companies - 0%.

Below is a reconciliation of income tax calculated using the income tax rate effective in the
Russian Federation and the actual income tax reccrded in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income:

2018 2017

(Loss)/ profit before income tax (23 340) 28 903
Theoretical income tax benefit/ (expense) calculated at 20% 4 668 (5781)
Tax effects of items which are not deductible or assessable for taxation

purposes:
Adjustment of income tax for prior years 3048 -
Share of profit of the joint venture 305 73
Effect of different income tax rates and taxation rules applicable to

foreign subsidiaries of the Group (11 896) (10 960)
Unrecognized tax losses of foreign subsidiaries of the Group for the

year (5 766) (5849)
Other items (45) (170)
Currency translation reserve 811 =
Income tax expense (8 875) (22 687)

Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes.
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24.

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017 net deferred tax assets arose from the following:

2018 2017

Finance lease liahilities 62 840

Financial instruments (loans receivable and borrowings) 11 047

Aliowance for expected credit losses on loans receivable 2801 -
Tax losses carried forward in Russian subsidiaries of the Group 1970 2919
Trade and other accounts receivable 755 240
Provisions 603 338
Property and equipment (67 609) (6 365)
Other (111) 90
Net deferred tax assets / (liabilities) 12 296 ‘2 7782

Starting from 2017 the Group can offset only 50% of taxable profit of each Russian subsidiary
against tax loss carry forwards accumulated by the subsidiary and the Group's tax loss carry
forwards have no date of expiration (after amendments to the Russian Tax Code effective January

1, 2017).

The movements in deferred tax were as follows:

2018 2017
Deferred tax balance as at the beginning of the year, net (2778) (6)
Deferred tax - effect of Initial recognition of financial instruments 13 060 -
Deferred tax - allowance of expected credit losses on transition to
IFRS 9 2 197 -

Deferred tax benefit 983 (2 735)
Currency translation reserve (1166) (36)
Deferred tax balance as at the end of the year 12 296 (2777)

The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Deferred tax assets 17 604 2 481
Deferred tax liabilities (5 308) (5 258)
Net deferred tax position 12 296 (g 777)

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management is being carried out by the Group in relation to financial (credit, market,
currency, liquidity and interest rate), operating and legal risks. The main purpose of financial risk
management is to determine risk limits and to further uphold the limits determined. Operating
and legal risk management shall provide reliable performance of internal policy and procedures of

the Group to minimize these risks.
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Interest rate risk

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Group had no loans and borrowings with variable interest
rate.

Credit risk management

The Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will
fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. Exposure to
credit risk arises as a result of the Group’s transactions with counterparties giving rise to financial

assets,

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by class of assets is reflected in the carrying
amounts of financial assets as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2018 2017

Financial assets at amortized cost and FVTPL
Cash and cash equivalents 96 177 1 964
Loans receivahle 447 872 1044 027
Trade and other receivables 88 959 42 283
Restricted cash 32 574 13 924
Investment in debt securities of a related party 2 920 94 208
Short-term hank deposits - 87 469
Finance lease receivables = 3727
Total 668 502 1 287 602

Credit risk refers to the risk that @ counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating
the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group only transacts with entities with a reliable credit
rating using publicly available financial information and its own trading records to rate its major
customers. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously
monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved
counterparties to avoid excessive concentrations of risks. Credit exposure is controlled by credit
limits that are reviewed and approved by the risk management committee annually.

Concentration of credit risk for account receivables from sale cf railcars is about 46%

as at reporting date. The balance is formed by outstanding amounts from external customer,
however, management of the Group considers credit risk to be limited. Accounts receivable from
operating lease of railcars are represented for more than 82% by receivables from SUEK. As at
December 31, 2018 the credit risk associated with trade and other receivables related to the
outstanding receivables on a leaseback transaction of USD 71 925 thousand. The outstanding
balance was fully repaid in 1Q'2019 after the fulfillment by the Group of all its obligations for
railcars supply under the leaseback agreement.

The credit risk on liquid funds represented by cash and cash equivalents, excluding restricted
cash, is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

December 31, December 31,

Name of bank Rating agency Rating 2018 2017

Otkritie FC Bank PISC Moody's Ba2 81 484 1029

MOSCOW CREDIT BANK PISC Fitch Ratings BB- 8 553 =

Gazprombank (JSC) Fitch Ratings BB+ 5 369 108

Other 771 827

Total 96 177 1 964
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The Group has a significant concentration of credit risk In regards to loans provided to TH UWC
LLC, Rail1520 Tank Cars Cyprus Holding LTD and Holme Services LTD related parties of the

Group.
Currency risk

Foreign exchznge risk arises when future commercial transactions or reccgnized assets or
liabilities are denominated in the currency different from the functional currency of each entity in
the Group. During 2018 and 2017 the Group entered Into certain transacticns denominated in USD

and EUR.

The table below summarizes the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the
reporting date relative to the functional currency of the respective entities of the Group:

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Monetary Monetary Net Monetary Monetary Net

financial financial monetary financial financial monetary

assets liabilities position assets liabilities position
UsD 21 318 - 21 318 211 457 425 784 (214 327)
EUR 1812 1492 320 4 668 - 4 668
Total 23 130 1492 21638 216125 425784 (209 659)

The table below details the Group’s sensitivity to weakening of the Russian Ruble against US
Deliar and Euro by 20%, all other variables being held constant. The analysis was applied to
monetary items at the reporting dates denominated in respective currencies.

USD - impact EUR - impact
December 31, December 31, December31, December 31,
2018 2017 2018 2017
Gall / (loss) 4 264 (42 865) 64 934

The strengthening of RUB in relation to the same currencies by the same percentage will produce
an equal and opposite effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group to that shown

above.

As at December 31, 2018 the Group does not have formal arrangements to hedge foreign
exchange risks of the Group's operations. The Management monitors all changes in the exchange
rates and does not expect any material negative fluctuations in the medium-term.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk because the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to settle all liabilities as they fall due. The

Group's liquidity position is carefully monitored and managed by the treasury function. Management

controls current liquidity based on expected cash flows and revenue receipts through establishing
and maintaining a cash fund sufficient to cover its contractual obligations for the period of three to
six upcoming months. Such funds are normally kept as highly liquid short-term bank deposits, and
are available on demand.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabllities.
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
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December 31, 2018

Fixed interest rate instruments

Non-interest bearing

Finance lease liabilities

Liability under a leaseback
transaction

December 31, 2017

Fixed interest rate instruments
Non-interest bearing

Variable Interest rate instruments

Less than

12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Total
122 940 494 989 457 310 1075 239
48 535 - - 48 535
49 754 197 900 256 030 503 684
319 1533 - 1 852
221 548 694 422 713 340 1629 310
Less than
12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Total
229 053 1184 408 1 180 431 2 593 892
26 094 - - 26 094
315 2 276 - 2 591
255 462 1 186 684 1180 431 2 622 577

The following table details the Group’s expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial
assets including interest that will be earned on those assets. The inclusion of information en non-

derivative financial assets is necessary in order to understand the Group's liquidity risk

management as the liquidity is managed on a net asset and liability basis.

December 31, 2018

Fixed interest rate instruments
Non-interest bearing

Variable Interest rate instruments

December 31, 2017

Fixed interest rate Instruments
Variable Interest rate instruments
Non-interest bearing

Finance lease recelvables

Net (asset) / liability positions
as at December 31, 2018

Net (asset) / liability positions
as at December 31, 2017

Capital management

Less than
12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Total
132 496 347 049 379 416 858 961
117 422 4 153 - 121 575
2 920 - - 2 920
252 838 351 202 379416 983 456
Less than
12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Total
182 987 487 072 769 124 1439 183
123 512 166 400 - 289 912
56 208 - - 56 208
940 3762 1293 5 995
363 647 657 234 770 417 1791 298
(31 290) 343 220 333 924 645 854
(108 185) 529 450 410014 831 279

The Group manages Its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximizing the return to stakeholders through optimization of the debt and equity balance within
the limits imposed by its providers or finance. The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debt (borrowings as detailed in Note 15, offset by cash and cash equivalents balances) and equity

and reserves.
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group's financial assets and liabilities at the reporting dates comprised the following:

December 31, December 31,
2018 2017

Financial assets
Loans receivable 447 872 1 044 027
Trade and other receivables 88 958 42 283
Restricted cash 32 573 13924
Short term deposits - 87 469
Finance lease receivables - 3727
Total loans and receivables 569 404 1191 430
Cash and cash equivalents 96 177 1 964
Total cash and cash equivalents 96 177 1 964
Investments in debt securities of a related party 2 920 94 208
Total financial assets at FVTPL 2 920 94 208
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Loans and borrowings 713 986 1671 239
Financial lease liabilities 308 882 2591
Trade and other payables 48 535 26 094
Liability under a leaseback transaction 1843 -
Total financial liabilities at amortized cost 1073 246 1699 924

Fair value of financial instruments that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis but for those fair value disclosures are required

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s loans and borrowings as at December 31,
2018 and 2017 were presented as follows:

December 31, 2017

December 31, 2018

Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
Loans and borrowings* 713 986 746 514 1671 239 1720 145
Financial lease liabilities 308 882 308 882 - -
Liability under a leaseback
transaction 1843 1843 = =
1024 710 1 057 239 1671 239 1720 145

* For the fair value estimation the Group used 9.55% as market rate of cost of debt for RUB.

Inputs of Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy were used to measure the fair value of loans and
borrowings received from third parties and related parties.

The fair value of financial liabilities was determined in accordance with generally accepted
valuation techniques based on a discounted cash flow analysis, with the most significant inputs

being the discount rate that reflects the weighted average interest rate on loans (in RUB and with
maturities of over 3 years) received by non-financial organizations from credit institutions.
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26.

In determining the fair value of finance lease liabilities (Including liability under a leaseback
transaction), the Group’s management relied on the assumption that the carrying amount of
finance lease liabilities approximates their fair value as at December 31, 2018 as the Group
recognized these liabilities in the second half 2018 and their effective interest rate is higher
compared to market indicators as at December 31, 2018 due to the Group’s risk premium.

Fair value of accounts receivable, short-term loans granted, short-term bank deposits, restricted
cash and cash and cash equivalents corresponds to their carrying value. For assessment of fair
velue for long-term lcans granted to third and related parties, inputs from Level 2 of fair value
hierarchy were used. Fair value was estimated based on discounted cash flows with key
assumption - market rate,

As at December 31, 2018 fair value of the loans receivable was lower than their carrying value by
USD 24 059 thousand. As at December 31, 2017 fair value of loans granted was greater than the
carrying value by USD 14 628 thousand.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are generally considered to be related if the parties are under common control or if one
party has the ability to control the other party or can exercise significant influence cr joint centrol
over the other party in making financial or operational decisions, as defined by IAS 24 “Related Party
Disclosures”. In considering each possible related party relationship attention is directed to the
substance of the relationship not merely the legal form. Related parties may enter into
transactions which unrelated parties might not, and transactions between related parties may not
be effected on the same terms, conditions and amounts as transactions between unrelated

parties.

The Group enters into various purchases and service transactions with related parties, such as
purchase of railcars and management services provided by the management company. In
addition, the Group enters into financing and investing transactions with related parties.

As at December 31, 2018 related parties with which the Group had significant balances
outstanding included associates and joint ventures, as well as Otkritie FC Bank PJSC. In 2018,
Otkritie FC Bank PJSC increased the effective ownership interest in PJSC RPC UWC as at
December 31, 2018, exceeding 20%, which gives the bank significant influence over the Group.

In 2018, the ICT Group ceased to have a significant influence on the Group. Thus, as at
December 31, 2018 the outstanding balances with the ICT Group and its former subsidiaries were
not included in the balances with the Group’s entities that have a significant influence on PISC
RPC UWC, but are included in related party transactions for 2018.

In 2017, for the purposes of this disclosure, transactions and balances with NitroChemProm LLC
and Vostok 1520 LLC were presented as transactions with associates and joint ventures. In 2018,
these entities were removed from the related parties’ list.

The nature of the related party relationships for those related parties, with whom the Group
entered into significant transactions or had significant balances outstanding at December 31, 2017
are: the parent, entities with significant influence over the Group, entities uncer common control
with the Group, associates and joint ventures of PISC RPC UWC.
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The Group had the following balances with its related parties:

2018 2017
Prepayments for property and equipment
Entities under common control = 23 548
Loans to related parties, net of allowance for expected credit
losses
Entities under common control 413 344 950 815
Entities with significant influence over the Group - 111 37¢
Investments in debt securities of a related party
Entities under common control 2920 94 208
Cash and cash equivalents
PJSC "Bank Otkritie Financial Corporation” 81 484 -
Trade and other accounts receivable
Associates and joint ventures of PISC RPC UWC : 36 313
Entities under common control 3 366 616
Advances paid to a related party
Entities with significant influence over the Group - 17 104
Entities under common control 44 429 2 086
545
TOTAL ASSETS 545 542 1236 069
Trade and other accounts payable
Entities under common control 48 460 25 997
Associates and joint ventures of PJSC RPC UWC = 21
Advances received from a related party
Associates and joint ventures of PISC RPC UWC = 33 889
Entities under common control 1436 1732
Borrowings
Entities under common control 440 229 1 087 470
Parent company 187 390 254 025
TOTAL LIABILITIES 677 515 1403 134
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The amounts outstanding are unsecured (expect as disclosed in Note 11) and will be settled in

cash, There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party accounts

receivable or payable. No expense has been recognized in the current or prior periods for bad or
doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties. The Group's transactions with its

related parties were as follows:

Purchase of railcars
Entities under common control
Associates and joint ventures of PISC RPC UWC

Purchase of railcars for further resale
Entities under common control

Purchase of spare parts
Entities under common control

Maintenance, repair and service expenses
Entities under common control

Transportation expenses
Entities under common control

Management fee
Parent company

Railcars disposition information
Entities under common control

Cost of guarantees and sureties
Entities with significant influence over the Group

Other expenses
Entities under common control
Parent company

Revenue - operating lease of railcars
Associates and joint ventures of RPC UWC
Entities under common control

Revenue - sales of railcars
Entities under common control
Joint ventures

Revenue - sales spare parts
Entities under common control

Other revenue
Entities under common control

Interest income

Entities under common control

Entities with significant influence over the Group
PJSC "Bank Otkritie Financial Corporation”

Interest expenses

Entities under common control

Parent company

Entities with significant influence over the Group

(Loss)/ gain on forex exchange differences, net

Entities under common control
Entities with significant influence over the Group

Related party debt forgiveness
Entities under common control

2018 2017

(59 913) (215 036)

- (122)

(106 171) (7 958)

(981) (272)

(1 565) (2 468)

(224) -

{14 871) (2 276)
(920)

(15 710) (11 503)
(39) (295)
(52) i

- 45 532

132 -

- 161

12 152 -

1110 289
5

60 490 73 295

6 787 18 321

3526 =

(63 808) (91 497)

(28 366) (8 844)
(13) (18 590)

(14 905) 8 155

1754 749
(3 265) (5 227)
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27.

28.

Compensation of key management personnel

In 2018 and 2017 management of the Group was largely conducted by a management company, a
related party to the Group, under a management fee structure. Total remuneration of the
management company is disclosed in the table above under the Management fee line.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

Operating leases relate to the railcars owned by the Group with lease terms of between 5 to 10
years, with an option to extend at the discretion of the lessee, All operating lease contracts contain
market review clauses in the event of changes in market conditions. The lease contracts do not
contain step up rent increases during the lease period. The lessee does not have an option to
purchase the rziicar at the expiry of the lease period.

Future minimum lease payments to the Group under non-cancellable operating leases are as
follows:

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017
Not later than 1 year 100 492 90 968
Later than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 163 074 261 454
Later than 5 years 10 182 29 537
273 748 381 959

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Commitments for capital expenditure

As at December 31, 2017, the Group had no commitments to acquire property and equipment
except for those which were 100% prepaid. As at December 31, 2018 the Group had no advances
paid for property and equipment.

Operating environment

Because Russia produces and exports large volumes of oil and gas, its economy is particularly
sensitive to the price of oil and gas on the world market.

During 2018 the oil and gas prices remained low. The management cannot reasonably estimate
future price changes and the impact they may have on the financial position of the Group.

Starting from 2014, sanctions have been imposed in several packages by the U.S. and the E.U.
on certain Russian officials, businessmen and companies. These sanctions remained in 2018.
Moreover, downgrade of Russia’s long-term foreign currency sovereign rating by international
credit agencies has led to reduced access of the Russian businesses to international capital and
export markets, increased inflation, economic recession and other negative economic
consequences.

The impact of further economic developments on future operations and financial position of
the Group is at this stage difficult to determine.

Taxation

The Russian business legislation continues to be subject to rapid changes. Management’s
interpretation of such legislation as applied to the activity of the Group may be challenged by

the relevant regional and federal authorities. Recent events suggest that the tax authorities are
taking a more assertive position in their interpretation of the legislation and as a result, it is
possible that transactions and activities that have not been challenged in the past may be
challenged, Fiscal periods generally remain open to tax audit by the authorities in respect of taxes
for three calendar years proceeding the year of tax audit. Under certain circumstances reviews
may cover longer periods. Management believes that it has provided adequately for tax liabilities
based on its interpretations of tax legislation. However, the relevant authorities may have
differing interpretations, and the effects on the financial statements could be significant.
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29.

The Group identified possible contingent tax liabilities for the three-year period ended December
31, 2018. Management estimates that the Group’s possible exposure in relation to
the aforementioned tax risks will not exceed 4% of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended

December 31, 2018.
Legal proceedings

From time to time the Group has been and continues to be the subject of legal proceedings and
adjudications, none of which has had, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse impact
on the Group. Management believes that the resolution of such matters wiil not have a material
impact on the Group’s financial position or operating results.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 15, 2019, PISC RPC UWC became the management company of several of the
Group’s subsidiaries.

In March 2019 within the trilateral agreement for supply of railcars with subsequent leaseback
(Note 10), one of subsidiary of the Group received 1 010 railcars from GTLK PJSC under the long-

term leaseback agreement.

In March 2018, the Group changed the terms of the lcan agreement with UWC Finance LLC dated
July 3, 2014, Under the new conditions, the interest rate was changed from 12.02% to 12.08%
per annum with the maturity of the loan moved from 2024 to September 2019.

In the first quarter of 2019 the Group fulfilled the obligation for railcars supply under the
jeaseback agreement, on March 4, 2019 the Group received the final payment under the supply
agreement as a part of the leaseback transaction in the amount of USD 71 925 thousand (incl.

VAT).

As at June 26, 2019 one of the Group's subsidiaries entered into a humber of agreements.
Assignment agreements between Rail 1520 Finance Cyprus Ltd and First Heavy Haul Company
JSC were signed in respect of loan granted by the Group to ICT-Capital, SZIZHK LLC and JSC
Business Engineering. According to these agreements Rail 1520 Finance Cyprus Ltd assigned all
the rights (demands) for the loans mentioned above to First Heavy Haul Company 1SC whereas
First Heavy Haul Company JSC will pay to the Group the outstanding amount of these loans
Including interest accrued and not paid as at the date of the assignment agreement, the amount
of these loans totaled to USD 52 862 thousand as at December 31, 2018 as stated In Note 11.

Previously Rail 1520 Finance Cyprus Ltd purchased the right to claim two loans granted by SZIPK
CJSC (a related party) to ICT-Capital and Recital in the amount of USD 9 182 thousand (exchange
rate as at June 26, 2019) and then transferred this right to First Heavy Haul Company JSC which
will pay for it the respective amount of 9 182 thousand.

Moreover, Rail 1520 Finance Cyprus Ltd purchased a promissory note of nominal value of RUB 5
500 000 thousand (USD 84 280 thousand with exchange rate as at June 26, 2019) from TH UWC
LLC (a related party) for the amount of USD 105 500 thousand (exchange rate as at June 26,
2019) and sold the note to Plainwhite Consultants Ltd for the respective amount which will be
paid in two tranches - USD 22 784 thousand (exchange rate as at June 26, 2019) will be
transferred in accordance with the agreement and USD 82 716 thousand (exchange rate as at
June 26, 2019) in 3 years and 3 months with interest rate equal to 10% per annum. Plainwhite
Consultants Ltd provided PJSC RPC UWC ordinary shares as collateral: 17 399 503 shares of
nominal value RUB 1, fair value of the collateral was linked to the market price of PJSC RPC UWC

as at the pledge agreement date.
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